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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CIVIL MINUTES - GENERAL

CASE NO.: CV 14-07249 SJO (FFMx) DATE:  September 30, 2014

TITLE: Securities and Exchange Commission v. Nationwide Automated Systems Inc.,
et al.

========================================================================
PRESENT:  THE HONORABLE S. JAMES OTERO, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Victor Paul Cruz
Courtroom Clerk

Not Present
Court Reporter

COUNSEL PRESENT FOR PLAINTIFF:

Not Present

COUNSEL PRESENT FOR DEFENDANTS:

Not Present

========================================================================
PROCEEDINGS (in chambers):  ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFFS' EX PARTE APPLICATION
FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER AND ORDERS (1) FREEZING ASSETS; (2)
PROHIBITING THE DESTRUCTION OF DOCUMENTS; (3) GRANTING EXPEDITED
DISCOVERY; (4) REQUIRING ACCOUNTINGS; AND (5) APPOINTING A TEMPORARY
RECEIVER, AND ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE RE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION AND
APPOINTMENT OF A PERMANENT RECEIVER

This matter is before the Court on Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission's ("Plaintiff" or
"SEC") Ex Parte Application ("Application") for Temporary Restraining Order ("TRO") and Orders
(1) Freezing Assets; (2) Prohibiting the Destruction of Documents; (3) Granting Expedited
Discovery; (4) Requiring Accountings; (5) Appointing a Temporary Receiver; and Order to Show
Cause Re: Preliminary Injunction and Appointment of a Permanent Receiver, filed September 17,
2014, under seal.  For the following reasons, the Court GRANTS Plaintiffs' Application.
  
I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff's complaint makes the following allegations.  Defendants Nationwide Automated Systems,
Inc. ("NASI"), Joel Gillis, and Edward Wishner (collectively, "Defendants") operated a Ponzi
scheme to sell, in an unregistered securities offering, investment opportunities in automated teller
machines ("ATMs") through purported "sale and leaseback" transactions.  (Compl. ¶ 3.)  Since
2013 alone, Defendants raised at least $123 million in investor funds through its ATM sale and
leaseback transactions with investors.  (Compl. ¶ 4.)  NASI told investors that it is in the business
of placing, operating, and maintaining ATMs, and that investors could purchase ATMS from NASI,
and then lease them back to NASI in return for "rent" of 50 cents per ATM transaction, with a
guaranteed investment return of at least 20% per year.  (Compl. ¶ 4.)

In fact, investors were not buying ATMs:  legitimate ATM transaction revenue represented less
than 2% of NASI's actual revenue.  (Compl. ¶ 5.)  The vast majority of NASI's revenue was
comprised of new investor funds.  (Compl. ¶ 5.)  Instead of being used to purchase ATMs, investor
funds were being used to pay back the guaranteed 20% per year already owed to earlier investors. 

Page 1 of  13



Priority          
Send          
Enter          
Closed          
JS-5/JS-6          
Scan Only          

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CIVIL MINUTES - GENERAL

CASE NO.: CV 14-07249 SJO (FFMx) DATE:  September 30, 2014

(Compl. ¶ 5.)  Defendants did not actually own many of the ATMs they had ostensibly bought and
allegedly sold to investors, and required investors to promise not to contact the locations where
their ATMs were supposedly located.  (Compl. ¶ 5.)

Defendant Gillis is the president of NASI and personally executed thousands of sale and
leaseback agreements with investors on NASI's behalf.  (Compl. ¶ 6.)  He is a signatory on the
bank accounts from which NASI made Ponzi-like investor payments, and he was directly involved
in marketing NASI's ATM investment opportunities to investors.  (Compl. ¶ 6.)

Defendant Wishner is the treasurer, vice president, and secretary of NASI.  (Compl. ¶ 7.)  He was
responsible for preparing NASI's tax returns, is a signatory on the bank accounts from which NASI
made Ponzi-like investor payments.  He is also the registered agent of and is affiliated with Relief
Defendants Oasis Studio Rentals, LLC, Oasis Studio Rentals #2, LLC and Oasis Studio Rentals
#3, LLC (collectively, the "Relief Defendants").  (Compl. ¶ 7.)

NASI was incorporated in 1996 and is controlled by Gillis.  (Compl. ¶ 16.)  NASI describes itself
as "an ATM machine provider" which "works with high-traffic retail locations, hotels, casinos,
convenience stores and movie theatres located throughout the United States."  (Compl. ¶ 16.) 
NASI claims that it "has been consistently recognized for its exceptional customer service, sturdy
machines and aggressive revenue-sharing model."  (Compl. ¶ 16.)  NASI touts the fact that it
operates "over 80 branches" with "1,000 certified technicians on standby," and further claims that
NASI services more than $1 billion in ATM transactions per month.  (Compl. ¶ 16.)

Since at least 1999 and continuing to the present, Defendants NASI and Gillis have offered
securities in the form of ATM sale and leaseback agreements to the public.  (Compl. ¶ 17.)  From
January 2013 to the present, Defendants have raised at least $123 million in investor money
through the NASI ATM sale and leaseback offering.  (Compl. ¶¶ 1, 17.)  Defendants NASI and
Gillis offered and sold NASI's ATM sale and leaseback agreements to investors across the United
States.  (Compl. ¶ 18.)

Investors paid a flat amount, typically $12,000, to buy one or more ATMs, supposedly identified
by a serial number, and under the terms of the agreement, investors then leased their ATMs back
to NASI for an initial 10-year term.  (Compl. ¶¶ 20, 21, 30.)  The agreement provided that NASI
was to pay $0.50 per transaction back to the investor, with an addendum that guaranteed a
minimum return of 20% per year.  (Compl. ¶¶ 22, 25.)  At the end of the 10-year term, investors
had the option of automatic renewal for additional 3-year periods, or, with 60 days advance notice,
to have their ATM delivered to them or the full amount of their initial investment returned.  (Compl.
¶ 23.)  The agreement had a non-interference clause banning investors from contacting the
locations where the ATMs were supposedly installed.  (Compl. ¶ 24.)

Defendants have not registered any investment offering with the SEC.  (Compl. ¶ 28.)  Defendants
NASI and Gillis have offered and sold NASI's ATM sale and leaseback agreements through
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interstate commerce to investors residing in multiple states.  (Compl. ¶ 29.)  NASI made numerous
representations to investors, including that investors were buying an actual ATM that would be
installed by NASI at a designated place, that the ATM would remain their personal property, that
NASI would operate and maintain the ATMs, and that NASI would send monthly transaction
reports to investors indicating the performance of the ATMs owned.  (Compl. ¶ 30.)  When one
interested investor asked NASI how to audit the ATM's monthly revenue, the NASI sales
representative responded that the statement with each check is the audit.  (Compl. ¶ 34.)

NASI's internal records list more than 31,000 ATMs.  (Compl. ¶ 36.)  But the settlement reports
from third-party ATM services identify only about 235 ATMs services for NASI.  (Compl. ¶ 36.) 
Internal records claim ownership of about 673 ATMs at various Casey's Convenience Mart
locations - an ATM at one store was sold to five different NASI investors - but in fact, every actual
Casey's Convenience Mart ATM is owned by an unrelated company, MobileMoney, Inc.  (Compl.
¶¶ 36-38.)

Defendants did not pay transaction revenue from operation of the ATMs that NASI claimed to have
sold investors, but rather made Ponzi-like payments funded by cash from new investors.  (Compl.
¶ 39.)  Of $23,783,827.29 deposited to NASI's bank accounts in April-June 2014, only
$390,805.46 represented legitimate ATM transaction revenue from servicers, whereas
$18,420,608.25 represented new investor funds.  (Compl. ¶ 40.)  However, in this same time
period, NASI paid at least $23,492,097 in amounts owed under NASI's ATM sale and leaseback
agreements.  (Compl. ¶ 40.)  Accordingly, these payments were not funded by legitimate ATM
transaction revenue, but instead by cash from new investors.  (Compl. ¶ 40.)

Defendants also improperly transferred investor proceeds to Relief Defendants.  (Compl. ¶ 41.) 
NASI's April 2013 balance sheet reflects a $1,477,192 receivable due from Relief Defendants. 
(Compl. ¶ 42.)  Within eight months, NASI's balance sheet indicated this receivable had been
reduced to only $75,000, even though NASI's bank records reflect that only $28,250 in payments
had been made to NASI by Relief Defendants during that time.  (Compl. ¶ 42.)  Accordingly,
Defendants misappropriated and misused investor proceeds by loaning money to Relief
Defendants and later writing off the debt.  (Compl. ¶ 43.)

In August 2014, NASI bounced $3 million in checks to NASI investors, and by the end of the
month, NASI had less than $200,000 in its bank account.  (Compl. ¶ 44.)  NASI told investors on
August 28, 2014: "We cannot control the U.S. mail, and there will always be a small percentage
of checks that for some reason or another never make it to their intended location."  (Compl. ¶ 45.) 
"In 19 years we have never, never been late.  We have never had to deal with such a challenge
of this type or magnitude.  We have always posted and mailed checks on the 1st of each month
or the Monday following, if the 1st fell on a weekend or holiday."  (Compl. ¶ 46.)  "I will not go into
every detail, but we came to the uncomfortable realization that the current infrastructure of
Nationwide cannot support over 4000 phone calls that were fielded in the first 2-1/2 weeks of
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August.  Some of those calls were the same people calling two or three times."  (Compl. ¶ 47.) 
"The September 1st check will be going out late as well due to the inordinate amount of time spent
on complaints, cleaning up the general accounting and system upgrades.  We hope to be back
on track by October 1st."  (Compl. ¶ 48.)  "Please do not call us with check mailing inquiries for
September.  We estimate that they will go out anywhere from the 8th to the 10th.  If checks are
not received within the standard 10 day period please e-mail us at:
accounting@nationwideautomatedsystems.com as we do not wish to spend the next few weeks
on the telephone and revisit the same unpleasant experience."  (Compl. ¶ 49.)  Defendants NASI
and Gillis told investors their bounced checks had been caused by a "glitch" in connection with
NASI's contract with a new outside firm to manage investor payments.  (Compl. ¶ 50.)

On August 20, 2014, NASI opened an account at a different bank.  (Compl. ¶ 51.)  From the new
account, NASI continued raising investor money and making Ponzi-like payments to existing
investors.  (Compl. ¶ 51.)  From August 20 to September 8, 2014, about $3,871,430 was
deposited to this bank account, of which $52,463 represented legitimate ATM revenue, and of
which $3.36 million in deposits came from new NASI investors.  (Compl. ¶ 52.)  During those three
weeks, NASI paid $2,044,060 to existing investors under the existing agreements.  (Compl. ¶ 52.) 
Thus, the payments from the new bank account were not funded by legitimate ATM transaction
revenue, but instead by cash raised from new investors.  (Compl. ¶ 52.)

On September 17, 2014, Plaintiff filed the instant Application under seal seeking to enjoin
Defendants from violating various federal securities laws, to freeze Defendants' and Relief
Defendants' assets, to prohibit the destruction by Defendants of any documents pertaining to
Defendants, to set an expedited discovery schedule outlined by Plaintiff, to require accounting of
Defendants' assets and liabilities, to appoint a temporary receiver of Defendant NASI's assets, and
to order Defendants to show cause why a preliminary injunction should not be issued and a
permanent receiver should not be appointed.  Defendants have not yet been noticed with this
lawsuit or the instant Application.  

II. DISCUSSION

The standard for a TRO is the same as for a preliminary injunction.  See Stuhlbarg Int'l Sales Co.
v. John D. Brush & Co., 240 F.3d 832, 839 & n.7 (9th Cir. 2001).  To obtain preliminary injunctive
relief, a moving party must typically show:  (1) a likelihood of success on the merits; (2) a likelihood
of irreparable harm to the moving party in the absence of preliminary relief; (3) that the balance
of equities tips in favor of the moving party; and (4) that an injunction is in the public interest. 
Winter v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 555 U.S. 7, 20 (2008).  In the Ninth Circuit, a preliminary
injunction is also appropriate if the plaintiff can show that "serious questions going to the merits
were raised and the balance of hardship tips sharply towards the plaintiff's favor."  Alliance for the
Wild Rockies v. Cottrell, 632 F.3d 1127, 1131 (9th Cir. 2011).  These "two alternative formulations
'represent two points on a sliding scale in which the required degree of irreparable harm increases
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as the probability of success decreases."  Raich v. Gonzales, 500 F.3d 850, 858 (9th Cir. 2007).
A restraining order is an "extraordinary remedy that may only be awarded upon a clear showing
that the plaintiff is entitled to such relief."  Id. at 22.

SEC suits for injunctive relief, however, are subject to a significantly more lenient standard than
the Winter standard: it is a "crucial error" to "assum[e] that SEC enforcement actions seeking
injunctions are governed by criteria identical to those which apply in private injunction suits."  SEC
v. Schooler, 902 F. Supp. 2d 1341, 1344 (S.D. Cal. 2012) (quoting SEC v. Mgmt. Dynamics, Inc.,
515 F.2d 801, 808 (2d Cir. 1975)).  The SEC need only establish (1) a prima facie case that
Defendants have violated the securities laws; and (2) a reasonable likelihood that their violations
will be repeated.  Schooler, 902 F.Supp.2d at 1344-45 (citing SEC v. Unique Fin. Concepts, Inc.,
196 F.3d 1195, 1199 n.2 (11th Cir. 1999); SEC v. Homestead Props. L.P., 2009 WL 5173685 at
*2 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 18, 2009)); see also Fed. Election Comm'n v. Furgatch, 869 F.2d 1256, 1263
(9th Cir. 1989) (holding that while the commission of past illegal conduct is highly suggestive of
the likelihood of future violations, further findings are necessary for the district court to issue an
injunction).

This looser standard is used because the SEC is not a private litigant, but rather a "statutory
guardian charged with safeguarding the public interest in enforcing the securities laws."  Mgmt.
Dynamics, 515 F.2d at 808.  Because the statutes on which SEC suits are based imply that a
violation will harm the public, the "irreparable injury" prong of the preliminary injunction test is
presumed to be satisfied if the government has proven the "probability of success" prong, and
further inquiry into irreparable injury is unnecessary.  United States v. Nutri-cology, Inc., 982 F.2d
394, 398 (9th Cir. 1992).1 

///
///

A. Is There A Prima Facie Case That Defendants Violated Securities Laws?

1  However, if the government can make only a "colorable evidentiary showing" of a
violation, the Court must consider the possibility of irreparable injury.  Nutri-cology, 982
F.2d at 398.  While we need not reach irreparable injury here, since the government has
made a prima facie case for securities law violations, the Court nevertheless finds that
given the fact that Defendants appear to have moved assets to the Relief Defendants and
written them off their balance sheet, there is a significant chance that Defendants would try
to abscond permanently with the remaining funds once they learned of this suit if an
injunction were not issued.  This loss of funds would irreparably harm existing investors in
NASI.  Further, NASI appears to be continuing to solicit further investment, and continuing
fraud on investors would constitute irreparable injury to new investors.
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The first factor the SEC must prove is that there is a prima facie case that Defendants violated
securities laws.  Unique Fin. Concepts, 196 F.3d at 1199 n.2.  Injunctive relief for securities
violations is authorized under Section 20(b) of the Securities Act and Section 21(d) of the
Exchange Act.  15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 78u(d), 80b-9.  The SEC argues that Defendants are violating
the antifraud provisions of Section 17(a), Section 10(b), and Rule 10b-5.  The provisions of these
sections are quite similar.  The SEC brings "scheme to defraud" claims against all Defendants and
misrepresentation and unregistered sale of securities claims against NASI and Gillis.

Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act of 1933 makes it unlawful "to employ any device, scheme,
or article to defraud," Section 17(a)(2) makes it unlawful to obtain money or property by means
of an untrue statement or omission of material fact, and Section 17(a)(3) makes it unlawful "to
engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a
fraud or deceit upon the purchaser," "by . . . interstate commerce or by use of the mails" in the
offer or sale of any security.  15 U.S.C. § 77q.  The SEC argues that all Defendants have violated
17(a)(1) and 17(a)(3) and that NASI and Gillis have violated Section 17(a)(2).

Section 10b is the anti-fraud provision of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 is the rule
promulgated by the SEC under Section 10b.  Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) make it unlawful to "employ
any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud" or to "engage in any act, practice, or course of business
which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person," "by . . . interstate
commerce or by use of the mails" in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.  17
C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  Rule 10b-5(b) makes it unlawful to make an untrue statement  or omission
of material fact by interstate commerce or by use of the mails in connection with the purchase or
sale of any security.  The SEC argues that all Defendants have violated Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) and
that NASI and Gillis have violated Rule 10b-5(b).

Further, the SEC argues that Defendants NASI and Gillis have violated the registration provisions
of the securities laws.  Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act of 1933 prohibit the
unregistered offer or sale of securities in interstate commerce unless an exemption from
registration applies.  15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) & 77e(c).

Thus, the questions faced by the Court are (1) whether Defendants' actions took place through
instrumentalities of interstate commerce or through the mails, (2) whether Defendants' actions
were in connection with the offer, purchase, or sale of a security, whether Defendants either (3)
engaged in a scheme to defraud or (4) made misleading or false statements, and (5) whether
Defendants had the requisite scienter; further, there is a question (6) whether NASI and Gillis are
violating the registration provisions of the securities laws.  The Court addresses each of these
questions in turn.

1. Interstate Commerce
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Each of the laws cited requires the acts to have been committed by the use of a means or
instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails.2  In this case, according to the evidence
submitted by the SEC, Defendants deposited checks in their accounts in California from investors
in other states such as Washington.  (Decl. of Kapan Wong ("Wong Decl.") ¶ 2.)  Further,
essentially all of Defendants' communications with investors, from the mailing of checks and
monthly transaction reports to solicitation of investors and transfer of money to other bank
accounts, took place through the postal system, the national phone and banking networks, and
the Internet.  These are all means of interstate commerce, so this prong is easily satisfied.

2. Offer, Purchase or Sale of Securities

"Securities" under the Securities Act include, among other things, any "investment contract" and
any "option or privilege on any security" and any "receipt for, or warrant or right to purchase . . .
any security."  15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(1); 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10).  "[A]n investment contract for
purposes of the Securities Act means a contract, transaction or scheme whereby a person invests
his money in a common enterprise and is led to expect profits solely from the efforts of the
promoter or a third party."  SEC v. W. J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293 (1946).  The Supreme Court
has held that very similar sale-and-leaseback transactions, involving payphones rather than ATMs,
are "investment contracts."  SEC v. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389, 397 (2004).  In Edwards, as here,
investors had no direct involvement in the operation of the equipment, but rather the defendant's
company selected the sites, installed the equipment, collected revenues, and maintained and
repaired the equipment.  Id. at 391-92.  Investors in Edwards received a 14% annual return and
a promise to refund the full purchase price of the payphones at the end of the lease.  Id.

Given the similarities to Edwards, the Court finds that the sale-and-leaseback contracts for ATM
machines at issue in the present case are "investment contracts" under the Securities Act and thus
are regulated as securities.  The SEC has provided evidence that Defendant Gillis solicited
investors in person and over the phone.  (Decl. of Sheldon Appel ("Appel Decl.") ¶ 3; Decl. of Teri
Wilks ("Wilks Decl.") ¶ 3.)  A standard package of agreements for a sale-and-leaseback contract
was apparently issued, with Gillis signing on behalf of NASI.  (Wilks Decl. ¶ 4, Ex. 5; Wong Decl.
¶ 10, Ex. 5; Appel Decl. ¶ 5, Ex. A; Decl. of Peter F. Del Greco in Supp. of Pl.'s Appl. ("Del Greco
Decl.") ¶ 47, Exs. 38-39.)  Thus, Defendants' acts concerned the offer and sale of securities.

///

3. Scheme to Defraud

2  Or, for SEC Rule 10b-5, by any facility of any national securities exchange, but that is not
relevant to the facts of this case.
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To be liable for a "scheme to defraud," a defendant must have committed a manipulative or
deceptive act in furtherance of the scheme.  Simpson v. AOL Time Warner, 452 F.3d 1040, 1048
(9th Cir. 2006) (citing Cooper v. Pickett, 137 F.3d 616, 624 (9th Cir. 1997)), vacated on other
grounds.  A transaction with the principal purpose and effect to create the false appearance of fact
constitutes a deceptive act.

The SEC has provided evidence that Defendants made Ponzi-like payments to NASI investors. 
In April, May, and June 2014, according to the SEC's accountant's review of NASI's accounts, a
total of $23,783,827.29 was deposited into NASI's bank accounts.  (Decl. of Roger Boudreau
("Boudreau Decl.") ¶ 20.)  Less than 2% of that amount was ATM transaction revenue from NASI's
ATM servicers.  (Boudreau Decl. ¶ 25.)  The vast majority came from investor funds.

The SEC also argues that Defendants sold ATMS that did not exist and made fictional monthly
transactional reports.  NASI's records list numerous ATMs supposedly operated by NASI at
Casey's Convenience Mart locations.  (Del Greco Decl. ¶ 39, Ex. 32.)  NASI claims in numerous
investor agreements that these are the locations where investors' ATMs were being installed. 
(See Wong Decl. ¶ 9, Ex. 4; Appel Decl. Ex. A; Del Greco Decl. ¶ 46, Ex. 38A.)  But in fact, these
ATMs are owned by MobileMoney, not by NASI or its investors.  (Decl. of Cheryl Seger ("Seger
Decl.") ¶¶ 1-3, Ex. A.)  Yet  nonetheless, Defendants sent out transaction reports for these non-
owned ATMs.  (Wilks Decl. ¶ , Ex. B; Wong Decl. ¶ 13, Ex. 8; Appel Decl. ¶ 6.)

The SEC has also provided evidence that Defendants required investors to agree to a non-
interference provision prohibiting them from visiting or inquiring about the ATMs personally. 
(Wong Decl. ¶ 10, Ex. 5B.)  The SEC argues that this was instituted to hide the fact that the ATMs
did not actually exist.

The SEC further argues that Defendants misappropriated investor money by transferring funds
from NASI to the Relief Defendants.  California corporate records show that Wishner is the
registered agent for each of the Relief Defendants and a principal of Oasis Studio #3, LLC.  (Del
Greco Decl. ¶ 45, Ex. 37).  The SEC's accountant's review of NASI's accounts indicates that since
2013, Wishner took $793,420 and Gillis took $207,900 from NASI.  (Boudreau Decl. ¶¶ 34-35.)

The SEC also claims that Defendants tried to "lull" investors to conceal fraud.  They submit a letter
Gillis wrote to investors on August 28, 2014, claiming that payment delays and returned checks
were merely due to processing issues.  (Wilks Decl. ¶ 8, Ex. C.)  However, according the the
SEC's submissions, NASI's bank accounts had been drained from $2.88 million to under $200,000
in August (Boudreau Decl. ¶ 32), and NASI had opened a new account at a different bank on
August 20 (Del Greco Decl. Ex. 15).
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The above evidence, if true, establishes that a fraudulent Ponzi-like scheme took place. 
Accordingly, the Court concludes that each Defendant committed a manipulative or deceptive act
in furtherance of a scheme to defraud.

4. Misleading or False Statements

To establish a claim for making false or misleading statements or omissions to investors, the
misstatements or omissions must concern material facts.  Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224,
231-32 (1988).  Materiality "depends on the significance the reasonable investor would place on
the withheld or misrepresented information."  Id. at 240.  An omitted fact is material "if there is a
substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted fact would have been viewed by the
reasonable investor as having significantly altered the total mix of information made available." 
SEC v. Platforms Wireless Intern. Corp., 617 F.3d 1072, 1092 (9th Cir. 2010) (quoting SEC v.
Phan, 500 F.3d 895, 908 (9th Cir. 2007)); see also TSC Indus. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438,
449 (1976). "Silence, absent a duty to disclose, is not misleading under Rule 10b-5," unless it
renders another disclosed statement misleading.  SEC v. Fehn, 97 F.3d 1276, 1290 (quoting
Basic, 485 U.S. at 240).

The SEC has submitted evidence that NASI and Gillis made representations that investors were
buying actual ATMs that would be installed in a place of business (Wong Decl. ¶¶ 6, 10, Exs. 2,
5B; Appel Decl. ¶ 5, Ex. A; Wilks Decl. ¶ 5, Ex. A), and that the payments and transaction reports
sent to investors detailed the actual performance of their ATMs (Wong Decl. ¶ 13, Ex. 8). 
According to the SEC, NASI and Gillis failed to tell investors that most of these ATMs did not in
fact exist, that real ATM transaction revenue comprised only a tiny fraction of NASI's revenue, and
that the majority of investor payments were funded by money solicited from new investors.

In the sale-and-leaseback scheme of payphones described in Edwards, the defendant's failure to
inform investors "(1) that [defendant] has failed to make a profit; (2) that [defendant] was losing
money on its payphone program; and (3) that [defendant] depended on funds from new investors
in order to sustain operations" were material misrepresentations because they went to the
essence of investment decisions made by individual investors.  SEC v. ETS Payphones, Inc., 123
F. Supp. 2d 1349, 1351 (N.D. Ga. 2000), aff'd, SEC v. ETS Payphones, Inc., 408 F.3d 727, 737
(11th Cir. 2005).  In this case as well, it would clearly have been material to investors that the
transaction reports they had been sent were fabricated, that most of the ATMs had not actually
been purchased, and that most of the claimed revenue was nonexistent.  Accordingly, the Court
finds that Defendants' NASI and Gillis made misleading and false statements.

5. Scienter

There is a requirement of scienter for both the SEC's scheme to defraud claims and its
misrepresentation claims.  See 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1); 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5;
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Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 701-02 (1980).  In the Ninth Circuit, scienter "requires either
'deliberate recklessness' or 'conscious recklessness,' and . . . it includes 'a subjective inquiry'
turning on 'the defendant's actual state of mind.'"  Platforms Wireless, 617 F.3d at 1093 (quoting
Gebhart v. SEC, 595 F.3d 1034, 1041-42 (9th Cir. 2010)).

The SEC has presented significant evidence that Gillis, as NASI's president, knew or was reckless
in not knowing that the supposed ATMs did not exist.  According to the SEC's evidence, Gillis
signed monthly checks to investors, accompanied by ATM transaction reports for ATMs that
apparently did not exist.  (Boudreau Decl. ¶¶ 24, 28; Wong Decl. ¶ 13, Ex. 8.)  Gillis told investors
they were buying an actual ATM, identified by serial number, "free and clear of all liens, claims,
debts, encumbrances, security interests, or other charges."  (Appel Decl. Ex. A.)  Gillis told
investors they could get a 20% guaranteed annual return and were guaranteed to get their entire
principal back after 10 years.  (Appel Decl. ¶¶ 3-4.)  Gillis apparently knew that NASI did not have
sufficient ATM revenue to continue making payments going forward, but nonetheless said that
NASI hoped "to be back on track by October 1st."  (Wilks Decl. ¶ 8, Ex. C.)  These facts are
sufficient for a finding of scienter.  See SEC v. ETS Payphones, Inc., 408 F.3d 727 (11th Cir.
2005) (holding that where, in the sale-and-leaseback scheme discussed in Edwards, defendant
failed to disclose that it was unable to buy back a substantial number of payphones and that it
relied on new investors to sustain operations, but where instead defendant falsely stated that it
remained profitable, a finding of scienter was not clearly erroneous).  Accordingly, this Court finds
that there was scienter in NASI and Gillis's actions.

The SEC has also presented evidence that Wishner, as NASI's vice president, treasurer, and
secretary, knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that legitimate ATM transaction revenue
comprised less than 2% of money coming into NASI, and that NASI was almost entirely funded
by new investor money.  According to the SEC's evidence, Wishner nonetheless made dozens
of payments in the form of checks sent to investors from NASI's newly established bank account
in August and September.  (Boudreau Decl. ¶ 28.)  Wishner further appears to have transferred
more than $100,000 in NASI funds to himself or entities under his control at the start of
September, as NASI was running out of funds. (Del Greco Decl. ¶ 46, Ex. 37; Boudreau Decl.
¶¶ 33-35.)  For similar reasons, this Court further finds that there was scienter in Wishner's
actions.

6. Unregistered Offering of Securities

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act of 1933 prohibit the unregistered offer or sale of
securities in interstate commerce unless an exemption from registration applies.  15 U.S.C.
§§ 77e(a) & 77e(c).  "In order to establish a Section 5 violation, [plaintiff] must point to evidence
that: (1) no registration statement was in effect as to the securities; (2) [defendant] sold or offered
to sell the securities; and (3) the sale or offer was made through interstate commerce."  Phan, 500
F.3d at 901-02 (quoting Berckeley Inv. Group, Ltd. v. Colkitt, 455 F.3d 195, 212 (3d Cir. 2006)).
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The Court has found above that NASI's sale-and-leaseback agreements were securities and that
NASI and Gillis offered and sold them through interstate commerce.  The remaining question is
whether they were registered or exempt from registration.

The SEC claims that their records indicate that no registration had ever been filed for the offer and
sale of NASI securities.  (Del Greco Decl. ¶ 35, Ex. 28; Mem. P. & A. 20.)  However, ATM
Holdings, Inc., a company owned by Defendants Gillis and Wishner, was registered with the SEC
and filed a Form 10-SB with the SEC in 1998.  ATM Holdings, Inc., General Form for Registration
of Securities (Form 10-SB) (March 30, 1998) ("AHI Registration").3  This registration statement
indicated that ATM Holdings owned all the shares of NASI, and clearly stated that its references
to ATM Holdings included NASI.  AHI Registration 2.  This registration statement explains in
considerable detail the sale-and-leaseback of ATMs that NASI claimed its business was. 
(However, according to the 1998 registration statement, there was "no minimum monthly amount
payable to ATM owners."  AHI Registration 3.)  ATM Holdings eventually had its corporation status
revoked, and in 2007, its SEC registration was revoked for failure to file any periodic reports after
the initial AHI Registration.  (Del Greco Decl. ¶ 11, Ex. 10.)  In any event, it appears clear that at
least after March 2007, NASI's sale of securities was not registered with the SEC.

The remaining question, then, is whether an exemption applies.  Exemptions are granted for
transactions by persons other than an issuer, underwriter or dealer; transactions by an issuer not
involving any public offering; transactions involving offers or sales solely to accredited investors
if the aggregate price is small and there is no advertising; or several other categories.  15 U.S.C.
§ 77d(a).  The exemption provisions are construed narrowly, and "[o]nce the SEC introduces
evidence that a defendant has violated the registration provisions, the defendant then has the
burden of proof in showing entitlement to an exemption."  Platforms Wireless, 617 F.3d at 1086
(quoting SEC v. Murphy, 626 F.2d 633, 641 (9th Cir. 1980)).  While Defendants NASI and Gillis
have not yet had an opportunity to make their case for an exemption at this stage, it seems to the
Court that given the large scale of Defendants' activities, it is unlikely that any of these exemptions
could be successfully claimed.  Accordingly, the court concludes that Defendants NASI and Gillis
violated the registration provisions of the securities laws.

B. Is There A Reasonable Likelihood That Their Violations Will Be Repeated?

The second factor that the Court must address in evaluating the SEC's request is whether there
is a reasonable likelihood that Defendants' violations will be repeated.  In this case, the SEC has
provided significant evidence, as shown above, that this scheme has been ongoing for a
considerable amount of time.  In September NASI apparently continued to receive large amounts

3  This Form 10-SB is presently available on EDGAR at:
 http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/containers/fix022/1040199/0000950148-98-000655.txt
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of investor money, and there is not any clear reason for this to stop.  (Boudreau Decl. ¶ 16.)  The
SEC has also provided evidence of a prior violation of securities law by Joel Gillis in 1988.  (Del
Greco Decl. ¶ 9, Ex. 8.)  Accordingly, the Court concludes that there is a significant likelihood that
Defendants' violations will be repeated, and the Court grants Plaintiff a temporary restraining
order.

C. Freezing Assets

The SEC seeks a freeze of Defendants' assets. "A party seeking an asset freeze must show a
likelihood of dissipation of the claimed assets, or other inability to recover monetary damages if
relief is not granted."  Johnson v. Couturier, 572 F.3d 1067, 1085 (9th Cir. 2009).  "The public
interest in preserving the illicit proceeds [of a Ponzi scheme] for restitution to the victims is great." 
FTC v. Affordable Media, 179 F.3d 1228, 1236-37 (9th Cir. 1999).  In this case, because it
appears that Defendants are sending money into new bank accounts, to their personal accounts,
to third-party accounts, and to early investors, the assets paid into NASI may not be recoverable
if the assets are not frozen.  Accordingly, the Court grants an asset freeze of Defendants' assets.

D. Disgorgement and Relief Defendants

The SEC seeks disgorgement of the gains of the Relief Defendants.  "To order disgorgement, the
district court . . . need find only that [defendant] has no right to retain the funds illegally taken from
the victims."  SEC v. Colello, 139 F.3d 674, 679 (9th Cir. 1998).  The SEC alleges that NASI took
investors' money, loaned it to the Relief Defendants, and then wrote off or forgave the bulk of that
debt in a few months.  The SEC provides evidence that according to NASI's April 2013 balance
sheet, Oasis Studio Rentals owed a $1,477,192 receivable to NASI, but after eight months this
receivable was reduced to $75,000 on NASI's balance sheet, even though NASI's bank accounts
reflect only $23,250 in payments from Oasis Studio Rentals to NASI over those eight months.  (Del
Greco Decl., ¶¶ 51-52, Exs. 43A, 43B, 44.)  Further, the SEC provides evidence that Defendants
transferred $70,000 in cash to Oasis Studio Rentals on September 3 and September 5. 
(Boudreau Decl. ¶¶ 33-35.)  But in the contracts signed with investors, there appear to be no
provisions authorizing NASI to transfer investor money to the Relief Defendants.

This evidence indicates that Relief Defendants had no right to retain the funds illegally taken from
investors here.  Accordingly, the Court orders disgorgement of the Relief Defendants' ill-gotten
gains.

E. Appointing a Temporary Receiver

The SEC requests that a temporary receiver be appointed to oversee NASI's assets.  Courts "may
impose receiverships in securities fraud actions to prevent further dissipation of defrauded
investors' assets."  SEC v. Wencke, 783 F.2d 829, 836-37 n.9 (9th Cir. 1986).  "A receivership is
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justified where there is a need to (1) marshal and preserve assets from further misappropriation
and dissipation; (2) clarify the financial affairs of an entity for the benefit of investors; (3) allow the
receiver to conduct an independent investigation of claims an entity might have against former
management or other parties; and/or (4) discover and assert defenses against actions brought
against an entity."  SEC v. ABS Manager, LLC, No. 13-cv-319-GPC, 2013 WL 1164413 (S. D. Cal.
Mar. 20, 2013).  In this case, given that NASI investors' funds appear to have been
misappropriated at a large scale, there is a need to marshal and preserve assets from further
misappropriation.  Thus, the Court grants the SEC's request to appoint a temporary receiver, and
appoints William Hoffman temporary receiver of NASI.

F. Other Relief

The SEC seeks several other forms of relief, including a prohibition on the destruction of
Defendants' documents, expedited discovery, and requiring accountings of Defendants' assets. 
"The federal courts have inherent equitable authority to issue a variety of 'ancillary relief' measures
in actions brought by the SEC to enforce the federal securities laws."  SEC v. Wencke, 622 F.2d
1363, 1369 (9th Cir. 1980).  Given the risk that critical assets and evidence might be destroyed
if these forms of relief are not provided, the Court finds that granting the SEC's request is justified.

III. RULING

For the reasons stated above, the Court GRANTS Plaintiffs' Application for a TRO.
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